Dissertationes Forestales 66

Wood ants (*Formica rufa group*) in managed boreal forests: implications for soil properties and tree growth

Jouni Kilpeläinen

Faculty of Forest Sciences University of Joensuu

Academic dissertation

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Forest Sciences of the University of Joensuu, for public criticism in auditorium M4, Yliopistokatu 7, Joensuu, on 23rd May 2008 at 12 o'clock noon. *Title of dissertation:* Wood ants (*Formica rufa* group) in managed boreal forests: implications for soil properties and tree growth

Author: Jouni Kilpeläinen

Dissertationes Forestales 66

Thesis supervisors:

Prof. Leena Finér, Finnish Forest Research Institute, Joensuu Research Unit, Finland Prof. Pekka Niemelä, Faculty of Forest Sciences, University of Joensuu, Finland

Pre-examiners:

Prof. Jarmo Holopainen, Department of Environmental Science, University of Kuopio, Finland Doc. Raija Laiho, Department of Forest Ecology, University of Helsinki, Finland

Opponent: Prof. Heikki Setälä Department of Ecological and Environmental Sciences, University of Helsinki, Lahti, Finland

ISSN 1795-7389 ISBN 978-951-651-220-7 (pdf)

(2008)

Publishers: Finnish Society of Forest Science Finnish Forest Research Institute Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki Faculty of Forest Sciences of the University of Joensuu

Editorial Office: Finnish Society of Forest Science Unioninkatu 40A, 00170 Helsinki, Finland http://www.metla.fi/dissertationes Kilpeläinen, J. 2008. Dissertationes Forestales 66. 33 p. Wood ants (*Formica rufa* group) in managed boreal forests: implications for soil properties and tree growth. Available at http://www.metla fi/dissertationes/df66.htm

ABSTRACT

Mound-building ants, and especially wood ants (*Formica rufa* group), are wide-spread key species that affect ecosystem functioning in several ways in the boreal forests of Eurasia. Forest clear-cutting harms wood ants, but the colonies gradually recover and multiply as forest succession proceeds. Thus their impact on ecosystem functioning may change with stand age. The objectives of this thesis were to study 1) the distribution of wood ants in boreal forests, 2) the role of wood ant mounds in the distribution of nutrients and roots, and 3) the effect of wood ant-aphid mutualism on the growth of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* L. Karst.). The 3rd National Forest Inventory data from the 1950s was used to study the distribution of ant mounds along major ecological gradients in Finland. Ecosystem-scale studies were conducted in 5-, 30-, 60- and 100-year-old Norway spruce dominated stands in eastern Finland.

The highest mound densities were found in spruce- and birch-dominated mature forests on medium-fertile sites in southern Finland. Ant mounds were more numerous and larger in older than in younger stands. More mound-building ant species were found in younger stands, while *F. aquilonia* Yarr. was the only species in the oldest stands. Most ant mounds were situated near stand edges. Carbon (C), nitrogen and phosphorus concentrations were higher in ant mounds than in the surrounding soil. More fine roots were found in the mineral soil under ant mounds than in the surrounding mineral soil. Ant mounds contributed only a small proportion of the total C and nutrient pools and root biomass in forest soil. Ant-aphid mutualism significantly reduced the radial growth of individual spruce trees in the 30-year-old stands only. Overall, the impact on spruce growth was marginal at the stand level. However, wood ants increased the heterogeneity in the spatial distribution of C, nutrients, roots, and tree growth.

Keywords: Norway spruce, nutrient content, roots, spatial distribution, species turnover, succession

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I thank Prof. Leena Finér, who as the leader of the ANTS project ("Do wood ants play an important role in carbon and nutrient dynamics in boreal managed forests?" funded by the Academy of Finland, 2003–2006, project 200870), provided me with the opportunity to carry out the study. I am grateful to Profs. Leena Finér and Pekka Niemelä for supervising my work. Thanks to the co-authors of articles for cooperation during these years: Prof. Leena Finér, Dr. Timo Domisch, Prof. Martin Jurgensen, Dr. Seppo Neuvonen, Prof. Pekka Niemelä, Dr. Mizue Ohashi, Mr. Pekka Punttila, Dr. Anita Risch and Prof. Liselotte Sundström. Mr. Urho Kettunen helped in setting up and maintaining the field experiments. Mr. Pertti Karvinen and Mr. Matti Jyrkinen assisted him in 2003 and Mr. Raino Lievonen in 2006. Ms. Paula Jänönen and Dr. Timo Domisch participated in the ant mound inventory in 2003. Mr. Pekka Punttila identified the ant specimens. Dr. Timo Domisch (2003–2005), Ms. Paula Jänönen (2003), Ms. Laura Ikonen (2003, 2005), Mr. Teuvo Vauhkala (2003), Dr. Mizue Ohashi (2004–2005), Mr. Jouko T. Ylönen (2004), Mr. Mikko Tala (2004), Ms. Tanja Honkasaari (2004), Ms. Niina Lehikoinen (2005), Ms. Hanne Vaarala (2005) and Mr. Kai-Mikael Hyvärinen (2006) took part in the ant traffic monitoring and the tree measurements. Dr. Timo Domisch, Ms. Laura Ikonen and Mr. Teuvo Vauhkala participated in collecting the mound and soil samples in 2003, and additionally, Ms. Anita Pussinen, Ms. Seija Repo and Mr. Pekka Järviluoto helped with the preliminary treatments of the samples, and Ms. Anki Geddala, Ms. Sirpa Piirainen and Ms. Maini Mononen with the practical arrangements for the nutrient analyses. Dr. Timo Domisch, Ms. Laura Ikonen, Ms. Marja Kuskelin, Mr. Teuvo Vauhkala, and Mr. Tapio Ylimartimo helped in measuring the tree sample plots in 2003, and Mr. Veikko Laakkonen, Ms. Hely Martikainen and Mr. Markku Tiainen in 2006. Mr. Tapio Ylimartimo performed the tree ring analyses. Ms. Leena Karvinen (2003) and Ms. Niina Lehikoinen (2005) entered part of the data. Mr. Jaakko Heinonen guided in the statistical analyses. The Koli National Park, UPM, Tornator and a private forest owner provided the study areas. The University of Joensuu, Faculty of Forestry (08/2002-10/2004) and the Finnish Forest Research Institute, Joensuu Research Unit (11/2004–2008) provided my working facilities. The study was funded by the Academy of Finland, project 200870 (01/2003-02/2006); University of Joensuu, Faculty of Forestry (03/2006–06/2006); the Finnish Society of Forest Science (07/2006-12/2006), Jenny and Antti Wihuri Foundation (2007), the Graduate School of Forest Sciences (01-06/2008), and Säätiö Gustaf B. Thordénin Karjalan lahjarahasto (2008). I acknowledge the thesis preexaminers Doc. Raija Laiho and Prof. Jarmo Holopainen for their valuable comments. I thank Dr. John Derome for revising the text and Ms. Leena Karvinen for making text layout. My sincere thanks go to all these people and bodies for making this work possible. Finally, I express my deepest gratitude to my loving wife Mia, sons Joel and Jeeli, parents, siblings, grandparents, parents-in-law, and the other close relatives and friends for their constant care and support. As a researcher I believe in the words of Sir Winston Churchill: "Now this is not the end. It is not even the beginning of the end. But it is, perhaps, the end of the beginning."

Joensuu, April 2008 Jouni Kilpeläinen

LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES (I-V)

The thesis is based on the following articles, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I. Kilpeläinen, J., Punttila, P., Sundström, L., Niemelä, P. & Finér, L. 2005. Forest stand structure, site type and distribution of ant mounds in boreal forests in Finland in the 1950s. Annales Zoologici Fennici 42: 243–258. http://www.sekj.org/PDF/anz42-free/anz42-243.pdf.
- II. Kilpeläinen, J., Punttila, P., Finér, L., Niemelä, P., Domisch, T., Jurgensen, M. F., Neuvonen, S., Ohashi, M., Risch, A. C. & Sundström, L. 2008. Distribution of ant species and mounds (*Formica*) in different-aged managed spruce stands in eastern Finland. Journal of Applied Entomology 132: 315–325. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0418.2007.01244.x.
- III. Kilpeläinen, J., Finér, L., Niemelä, P., Domisch, T., Neuvonen, S., Ohashi, M., Risch, A. C. & Sundström, L. 2007. Carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus dynamics of ant mounds (*Formica rufa* group) in managed boreal forests of different successional stages. Applied Soil Ecology 36: 156–163. doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2007.01.005.
- IV. Ohashi, M., Kilpeläinen, J., Finér, L., Risch, A. C., Domisch, T., Neuvonen, S. & Niemelä, P. 2007. The effect of red wood ant (*Formica rufa* group) mounds on root biomass, density, and nutrient concentrations in boreal managed forests. Journal of Forest Research 12: 113–119. doi: 10.1007/s10310-006-0258-z.
- V. Kilpeläinen, J., Finér, L., Neuvonen, S., Niemelä, P., Domisch, T., Risch, A. C., Jurgensen, M. F., Ohashi, M., & Sundström, L. Does the mutualism between ants (*Formica rufa* group) and *Cinara* aphids affect Norway spruce growth? Manuscript.

I participated in designing the study and was responsible for collecting the field data for the last four papers. I wrote the first manuscripts of the papers I–III and V, and analysed the data in paper IV and participated in the writing work. Articles I–IV are reprinted with kind permission of the publishers: Finnish Zoological and Botanical Publishing Board (I), Wiley-Blackwell (II), Elsevier (III) and Springer (IV).

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES (I-V)	5
1 INTRODUCTION	7
1.1 Wood ant distribution	7
1.2 Role of wood ants in forest ecosystems	9
1.3 Objectives of the thesis	11
2 MATERIAL AND METHODS	11
2.1 3rd National Forest Inventory data (I)	11
2.2 Intensive studies (II-V)	12
Study stands (II–V)	12
Ant mound survey (II)	13
Carbon and nutrient and root sampling (III–IV)	13
Norway spruce growth (V)	15
3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	17
3.1 Distribution of ant mounds in boreal forests (I)	17
3.2 Distribution of ant species and mounds in Norway spruce stands (II)	18
3.3 Carbon and nutrient concentrations and pools of wood ant mounds (III)	19
3.4 Root distribution in wood ant mounds (IV)	20
3.5 Effect of ant-aphid mutualism on Norway spruce growth (V)	21
3.6 Implications of wood ants for the prerequisites of tree growth	22
4 CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH NEEDS	24
REFERENCES	25

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Wood ant distribution

Hölldobler and Wilson (1990) stated that "the neglect of ants in science and natural history is a shortcoming that should be remedied, for they represent the culmination of insect evolution, in the same sense that human beings represent the summit of vertebrate evolution." However, ants are much older than humans since they evolved more than 100 million years ago. Some 12 200 ant species in 20 subfamilies have been described so far (Bolton 2003). Ant species diversity is enormous especially in the tropics where dozens of ant species can be found in a single tree (*e.g.* Longino *et al.* 2002). About 60 ant species can be found in Finland (Söderman and Vikberg 2002; Vepsäläinen 2002; Czechowski and Radchenko 2006), and 12 of them build mound nests (Collingwood 1979; Punttila *et al.* 1991; 1994a; Punttila 1996; Seifert 2000; Mabelis and Korczynska 2001; Sundström *et al.* 2005).

Mound-building ant species are wide-spread in the boreal forests of Eurasia (e.g. Gößwald et al. 1965; Baroni Urbani and Collingwood 1977; Reznikova 2003). Wood ants of the Formica rufa group (F. aquilonia Yarr., F. polyctena Först., F. rufa L., F. lugubris Zett. and F. pratensis Retz.) are extremely common in many forest habitats and can be found throughout Finland from the hemi-boreal to the sub-arctic zone (Wuorenrinne 1974; Rosengren et al. 1979; Laine and Niemelä 1989). F. aquilonia, F. polyctena and F. lugubris are abundant throughout the whole country (Wuorenrinne 1974; Baroni Urbani and Collingwood 1977; Rosengren et al. 1979; Laine and Niemelä 1989; Punttila and Kilpeläinen 2008), whereas F. rufa occurs mainly in the hemi- and south-boreal forests (Wuorenrinne 1974; Punttila and Kilpeläinen 2008). On the average, three mounds per hectare occur on the most common forest site types in Finland (Wuorenrinne 1974; Rosengren et al. 1979; Domisch et al. 2005), and the mounds are often inhabited by several hundreds of thousands ants (Hölldobler and Wilson 1990). Other moundbuilding species, F. uralensis Ruzs., F. truncorum Fabr., F. exsecta Nyl., F. fennica Seifert, F. forsslundi Lohm., F. pressilabris Nyl., F. suecica Adlerz, are common in young, open forests, meadows or mires (Collingwood 1979; Punttila et al. 1991; 1994b; Punttila 1996; Punttila and Haila 1996; Seifert 2000; Mabelis and Korczynska 2001).

Colonization of an area by ants depends on the habitat requirements and the dispersal and colonization capacities of the species, as well as potential species interactions (Vepsäläinen and Pisarski 1982). The ant species composition also changes with stand age: pioneering ant species capable of independent colony establishment (e.g. F. fusca L.) are followed by species employing temporary social parasitism during colony founding (e.g. monogyne wood ant species). Later on, because of the intensified competition among the established colonies, only spreading through colony budding may remain a competitive colonization strategy (e.g. as in polygyne wood ant species) (Rosengren and Pamilo 1983; Punttila et al. 1991; Rosengren et al. 1993; Punttila et al. 1994b; Seppä et al. 1995; Punttila 1996; Punttila et al. 1996; see also Oinonen 1956). Long-range dispersal ability is generally considered to be better in monogyne (one queen) and weakly polygyne (a few queens) species, whereas short-range dispersal through the formation of bud nests dominates in polygyne (several queens per colony) species (Rosengren and Pamilo 1983; Rosengren et al. 1993; Sundström et al. 2005). Monogyne and monodomous (single nest colony) wood ant species (most Finnish populations of F. rufa, F. lugubris, F. pratensis) are more common in younger stands and fragmented mature forests, whereas polygyne and polydomous species (F. aquilonia, F. polyctena) thrive in continuous mature forests (Rosengren and Pamilo 1983; Savolainen and Vepsäläinen 1988; 1989; Punttila 1996; Sundström et al. 2005). The species composition correlates simultaneously

with the light conditions in the forest such that monogyne wood ants often dominate up until canopy closure, whereas larger mature stands in particular are often dominated by highly polygyne wood ants (Punttila 1996). Presumably, sufficiently large wood ant colonies can thermoregulate their large mounds and thrive in shady habitats more efficiently than small colonies (Coenen-Staß 1980; Rosengren *et al.* 1987; Punttila 1996; Frouz 2000; Sorvari and Hakkarainen 2005).

Most of the boreal forests in Fennoscandia are managed, and forest succession starts from clear-cutting. This can be destructive for wood ant colonies because, in addition to mechanical damage, it removes food resources, changes the micro-climate and alters the foraging routes, for instance (Rosengren and Pamilo 1978; Rosengren *et al.* 1979). The vitality of ant colonies decreases after clear-cutting and ants often abandon their mounds within a few years (Domisch *et al.* 2005; Sorvari and Hakkarainen 2005). Gradually the colonies recover and multiply along with the development of the forest stand (Punttila *et al.* 1991; Punttila 1996; Sorvari and Hakkarainen 2007). After stabilisation, ant mounds remain active in the same locations for several years, even for decades (Hölldobler and Wilson 1990).

Although the general distribution of wood ant species is fairly well known owing to the extensive studies carried out in many Eurasian countries (e.g. Baroni Urbani and Collingwood 1977; Seifert 1991; Reznikova 2003), the data are rarely based on systematic sampling across all forest site types and successional stages. In Finland, however, a national ant mound inventory was carried out as a part of the 3rd National Forest Inventory (NFI3) in the beginning of the 1950s in order to assess the density of the ecologically dominant wood ants of the Formica rufa group (Ilvessalo 1951; 1956) which, at the time, were considered to play an integral role in the pest control of managed forests (Adlung 1966). Wuorenrinne (1974) and Rosengren et al. (1979) have earlier analyzed subsets of the NFI3 data with respect to the number of ant mounds, and assumed that the data mainly encompassed the Formica rufa group. The authors found the highest occurrences and densities of ant mounds in mediumfertile, medium-dense, mixed forests in southern Finland, and concluded that factors related to vegetation, food resources and climate were the main determinants of mound distribution. The NFI3 data including ant mound numbers were reanalysed in the current study. Here the occurrence and density of ant mounds were studied on mineral soils throughout the whole mainland Finland, except in the northernmost parts, and a larger range of habitat attributes were included in the analysis. Although forest management and its intensity, and therefore also forest structure, have changed considerably since the 1950s (Valtanen 1996; Löfman and Kouki 2001), these data provide an opportunity to study the large-scale variation of mound occurrence and density along the major ecological gradients in boreal forests.

The distribution of ants at the landscape or ecosystem scale has been studied widely since the 1940s (*e.g.* Sudd *et al.* 1977; Klimetzek 1981; Levings and Traniello 1981; Laine and Niemelä 1989). Light has been often found to be a key factor determining nest locations (*e.g.* Klimetzek 1970), but competition (*e.g.* Cushman *et al.* 1988), slope aspect (*e.g.* Doncaster 1981), slope steepness, elevation, fire frequency (Risch *et al.* 2008), humidity, vegetation and soil characteristics (*e.g.* Lorber 1982) have also been shown to play important roles. In contrast to the earlier stand-level studies on the distribution of mound-building ants, forest age, nest locations, nest sizes and ant species are included in this study. Forest management likely affects ant species assembly, colony vitality, mound number, size, form and location (Punttila 1996; Domisch *et al.* 2005; Sorvari and Hakkarainen 2005; 2007). In particular, the density, size and location of ant mounds and also ant species determine the magnitude and the spatial distribution of ant activities as key species in forest ecosystems. The magnitude of ant effects may change with stand age.

1.2 Role of wood ants in forest ecosystems

Wood ants are considered to be key species in boreal forests due to their great abundance and the multitude and magnitude of their roles in the ecosystem: they cycle and aggregate carbon (C) and nutrients (*e.g.* Frouz *et al.* 1997; Folgarait 1998; Laakso and Setälä 1998; Lenoir *et al.* 2001; Risch *et al.* 2005), mix soil and alter its structure (*e.g.* Pokarzhevskij 1981), affect invertebrate (*e.g.* Way and Khoo 1992; Karhu and Neuvonen 1998; Laakso and Setälä 2000; Martikainen *et al.* 2000; Hawes *et al.* 2002; Punttila *et al.* 2004) and vertebrate distributions (*e.g.* Haemig 1992; 1994; Aho *et al.* 1999; Jäntti *et al.* 2007), and plant production (*e.g.* Wellenstein 1980; Rosengren and Sundström 1991; Mahdi and Whittaker 1993; Atlegrim 2005) (Figure 1). Wood ants defend their large territories against other ant species, especially against other territorial and aggressive species (Mabelis 1984; Savolainen and Vepsäläinen 1988; 1989). They are also a food source for other animals (*e.g.* Elgmork and Kaasa 1992; Swenson *et al.* 1999) and support various myrmecophiles (*e.g.* Päivinen *et al.* 2002).

Carbon and nutrient concentrations in ant mounds can be higher than those in the surrounding soil (Zakharov et al. 1981; Lenoir et al. 2001; Risch et al. 2005) due to the extensive flow of invertebrate prey, honeydew and seeds, and mound constructing material (litter, resin) into the mound (Stradling 1978; Rosengren and Sundström 1987; Stradling 1987; Rosengren and Sundström 1991), and the high number of nitrogen-fixing bacteria, earthworms and decomposer microbes living in the mounds (Frouz et al. 1997; Laakso and Setälä 1998; Stadler et al. 2006). Obviously the type of material used for construction also affects the chemical properties of ant mounds. The total C and nutrient pools in ant mounds, however, are likely to increase with stand age because ant mound and ant densities are higher in older stands (Sorvari and Hakkarainen 2005; 2007), and the ants have had longer time to build larger mounds. Studies carried out in temperate and alpine forests in Europe indicate that wood ants can play a significant role in nutrient cycling and aggregation (Frouz et al. 1997; Risch et al. 2005). Now the element concentrations and pools of wood ant mounds were studied for the first time in boreal forests (but see Laakso and Setälä 1998). Unlike the studies on active ant mounds in temperate, hemi-boreal and subalpine areas (Zakharov et al. 1981; Lenoir et al. 2001; Frouz et al. 2005; Risch et al. 2005), the below-ground mound parts and different stand ages are also included here.

Root distribution in ant mounds has not been studied earlier in boreal forests (see Karhu and Neuvonen 1998; Kristiansen and Amelung 2001). High nutrient concentrations and elevated temperatures, together with better aeration, might favour root growth and nutrient uptake in wood ant mounds. Since mound density is high in the boreal forests of Fennoscandia, the mounds might influence the variation in root distribution and growth in these forests. Changes in mound vitality might alter the chemical and physical conditions in the mounds and, consequently, the impacts of mounds on root growth. Furthermore, the bulk density of a mound could represent an indicator of ant colony vitality because, in recently clear-cut sites, weakened colonies may not be able to maintain their mounds in good shape and sufficiently aerated, resulting in higher average bulk densities of the mounds can decompose faster than dry and porous active mounds (Lenoir *et al.* 2001). Thus forest management, ant colony vitality, bulk density, decomposition, C and nutrient concentrations and root distribution in ant mounds could be related.



Figure I. Schematic diagramme of the factors related to the effects of ant-aphid mutualism on tree growth. Signs + and - indicate assumed positive and negative effects.

Many ant species have mutualistic relationships with aphids feeding on the phloem sap of a wide variety of plants (e.g. Way 1963; Buckley 1987; Stadler and Dixon 2005; Styrsky and Eubanks 2007). Wood ants protect aphids (on conifers mainly Cinara spp.) from predators and, in return, are supplied with honeydew excreted by aphids. The removal of carbohydrates from the phloem by aphids can reduce tree growth. Ants may predate on other insects more intensively in mutualistic relationships with aphids than otherwise (Way 1963), which would also be beneficial for the host plants. The net effect of ant-aphid mutualism on plant growth is the sum of the direct loss caused by sap sucking and the indirect gain due to ants predating on other non-tended herbivores. The net effect on plant growth is likely to be positive when the populations of herbivores not tended by ants are high, whilst ant predation on small herbivore populations does not compensate for the growth losses caused by sap sucking (e.g. Styrsky and Eubanks 2007). Conifers, unlike deciduous trees, have only a few defoliating insects, and these seldom cause severe damage and consequent growth reduction in Fennoscandia. Thus ant-aphid mutualism most probably has a mainly negative effect on the growth of conifers. The effect of ant-aphid mutualism on Norway spruce was studied here for the first time by determining growth at both the tree and ecosystem levels (cf. Laakso and Setälä 2000; Frouz et al. 2008) and by controlling experimentally the ant-aphid mutualism (Styrsky and Eubanks 2007).

Ants and aphids can affect tree growth in several negative and positive ways, and through a number of factors (Styrsky and Eubanks 2007), such as the chemical defence of host plant (Sipura 2002), birds (Mooney and Linhart 2006; Mooney 2007), aphid saliva (Miles 1999),

aphid-transmitted plant viruses (Ng and Perry 2004; Goggin 2007), and honeydew in relation to phyllosphere microflora (Stadler and Müller 1996) and soil microbes (Dighton 1978; Petelle 1984; Grier and Vogt 1990; Reynolds and Hunter 2001; Stadler *et al.* 2001; Stadler *et al.* 2004; Stadler *et al.* 2006), and these factors can interact with the effects of ant-hemipteran mutualism on plant fitness (Figure 1). In this study only the net effect of ant-aphid mutualism on tree growth was considered and no attempt was made to distinguish between the different factors affecting tree growth.

1.3 Objectives of the thesis

The objectives of the thesis were:

- to study large-scale variation in the distribution of ant (*Formica* spp.) mounds along major ecological gradients in Finland (I), and to study the spatial distributions of ant mounds, their dimensions and ant species in Norway spruce (*Picea abies* L. Karst.) stands of different ages (II),
- to determine how C and nutrient concentrations and pools and root distribution in wood ant (*Formica rufa* group) mounds change with forest stand age in Norway spruce stands (III, IV), and
- 3) to assess the effect of mutualism between wood ants and aphids on the growth of Norway spruce in stands of different ages (V).

2 MATERIAL AND METHODS

2.1 3rd National Forest Inventory data (I)

Data from the 3rd National Forest Inventory (NFI3) were used to study the large-scale distribution of ant mounds. NFI3 was carried out during 1951–1953 as a line survey (Ilvessalo 1951; 1956). The data included a range of variables describing forest characteristics and the number of ant mounds on a total of 6570 0.1 ha circular sample plots on mineral soils (Figure 2). The log-likelihood ratio test was used to test whether the numbers of sample plots with and without at least one ant mound (mound occurrence) were distributed in similar proportions across stands of different site type, dominant tree species, forest density, forest age and development classes. To investigate the relationships between habitat attributes and the density of ant mounds per 0.1 ha, the data were processed by Poisson regression analysis. Hierarchical partitioning (Chevan and Sutherland 1991; Mac Nally 1996; Walsh and Mac Nally 2004), which produces the average independent and joint contribution of each explanatory variable to the goodness-of-fit of the full model, was used to assess the relative importance of each selected explanatory variable.



Figure 2. The 3rd national forest inventory data covered the grey tone areas. Crosses depict the location of the intensive study stands. Vegetation zones from Kalela (1960) and Ahti *et al.* (1968).

2.2 Intensive studies (II–V)

Study stands (II-V)

More detailed studies on the ant mounds and the effects of ant-aphid mutualism on tree growth were conducted in four stand age classes (5, 30, 60 and 100 years) on sites of the medium-fertile Myrtillus type (Cajander 1949) in and near the Koli National Park (29°52′E, 63°04′N, 160 m a.s.l.) (Figure 2). In each age class four replicate stands (2.3–11.3 ha) were selected. The stands were selected so that the size of the homogeneous tree stand was maximized and, correspondingly, the proportion of stand edge minimized. The stands were dominated by Norway spruce with an admixture of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.), silver and downy birch (*Betula pendula* Roth. and *B. pubescens* Ehrh.), European aspen (*Populus tremula* L.), European alder (*Alnus incana* (L.) Moench) and, especially in the 5-year-old stands, rowan

(*Sorbus aucuparia* L.). Although only spruce was planted in the 5-, 30-, and 60-year-old stands, deciduous trees and pines were numerous in the young stands. The 100-year-old stands were naturally regenerated because planting was rare at the time of establishment. The soil type on the sites was haplic podzol (Soil map... 1990) on glacial till, and the organic layer was on the average 7 cm thick (Table 1).

Ant mound survey (II)

In the summer of 2003 the location, diameter, height, direction of the longest slope, an estimate of illumination (well-lit, open location; moderately shaded; heavily shaded by trees or other structures), and mound activity (active or abandoned) were determined on all mounds in the study stands. Above-ground ant mound volumes were calculated using the equation of a half ellipsoid (*e.g.* Risch *et al.* 2005). Ant samples were collected from all active mounds, and species identification was performed using a variety of taxonomic keys and research papers (*e.g.* Dlussky and Pisarski 1971; Douwes 1981; 1995; Czechowski and Douwes 1996; Seifert 2000; Czechowski *et al.* 2002; Goropashnaya *et al.* 2004a; 2004b).

To test for the differences in mound numbers of different ant species among the stand age classes, the chi-squared test was used for *F. aquilonia* and the other ant species pooled. The expected mound numbers in the stand age classes were adjusted according to the stand size. As the mounds of species other than F. aquilonia were very rare in the data, only F. *aquilonia* was taken for further analysis. To compare the densities (ha^{-1}) and volumes of F. aquilonia mounds among forest age classes, one-way anova and Bonferroni post hoc test were used. The mound volumes in different light conditions were tested in a similar way. To test for differences in mound numbers with their longest slopes facing in different directions, the chi-squared test was used. Mound volumes within 10 m from the stand edges and more than 10 m away from the stand edges were compared with the paired-samples t-test. The paired samples t-test was also used to compare the percentages of ant mounds within 10 m from the stand edges and the percentages of stand areas within the edges. The ant mounds in stands were considered as stationary and homogeneous spatial point patterns. To explore whether ant mounds were distributed randomly, regularly or were clustered within each stand, a transformation of Ripley's K function with an isotropic edge correction was applied (Baddeley and Turner 2005). To test whether the distribution of ant mounds differed from a homogeneous Poisson process selected to represent complete spatial randomness, a Monte Carlo test with 999 simulations was used. The absolute value of the sum of the transformed K function values was selected as a test quantity (Heikkinen 2006).

Carbon and nutrient and root sampling (III-IV)

Eight sample mounds from different mound volume classes were selected in each stand age class (32 mounds in total) (Table 1). In each stand one to three mounds and their surroundings were sampled. Three core samples were taken from the above-ground parts of each mound. One below-ground soil sample was taken under each of the three above-ground ant mound samples down to a depth of 21 cm. Four samples were taken from the organic layer and mineral soil at points 3 m from the ant mound edge in north, west, south and east directions. The thickness of the organic layer was measured.

Table 1. The density and volume of active and abandoned ant mounds, the height of spruces in the 5-year-old stands (h), the basal-area-weighted diameter of spruces in the older stands ($d_{1,3}$), spruce stem number, the percentage of spruces visited heavily by ants, the number of mounds and their surroundings sampled for carbon and nutrients (element) and roots, the number of mounds surrounded by the experimental trees (growth), and the thickness of the soil organic layer in the individual study stands.

Organic	layer	(cm)	9	5	5	0	ω	9	7	5	10	9	0	5	7	ø	Ð	6
Growth	mounds		2	-	-	-	7	-	-	-	7	-	-	-	7	-	-	-
Root	mounds		2	ი	~	7	0	0	~	ю	7	2	2	0	7	-	~	-
Element	mounds		2	ო	~	7	7	~	2	С	7	7	2	7	7	7	2	7
Heavy	visit	(%)	3.0	3.1	0.7	1.4	0.7	1.6	1.4	1.6	1.3	2.0	7.0	3.8	1.4	4.7	6.6	5.8
Stems		(ha ⁻¹)	1760	1425	1857	1867	1933	944	1122	1007	1111	867	429	600	1333	450	424	517
h (1-4)	d _{1.3} (5-16)	(cm)	44	53	60	52	12.9	15.1	15.3	16.1	14.5	17.1	30.0	22.8	18.6	21.2	27.9	30.0
Aband.	volume	(dm³)	30	192	5	360	2	ı	66	143	272	219	255	369	1125	42	1474	260
Active	volume	(dm³)	91	131	302	548	212	262	301	218	173	763	264	399	1825	1023	859	450
Aband.	mounds	(ha ⁻¹)	0.6	0.8	0.1	2.5	0.4	0.0	0.2	0.9	0.2	0.5	1.5	0.8	0.6	0.4	0.4	1.4
Active	mounds	(ha ⁻¹)	4.6	4.0	0.6	0.9	5.3	1.6	1.7	4.2	4.4	9.7	5.7	2.0	4.9	2.7	3.3	5.6
Age	class	(years)	5	5	5	5	30	30	30	30	60	60	60	60	100	100	100	100
Stand	number		Ţ	2	ო	4	2	9	7	ω	0	10	11	12	13	14	15	16

Mineral soil samples (E horizon and the upper part of the B horizon) were taken below the sampled organic layer in the same way as the soil sampling under the ant mounds. Stones and large roots (diameter > 20 mm) were separated from the samples and their mass and volume were subtracted from the samples. All living fine (diameter < 2 mm) and coarse (diameter 2–20 mm) roots were separated manually from the samples. The roots, mound material and soil samples were dried separately to constant mass at 40 °C, and then weighed. The samples taken from soil below the ant mounds and from the mineral soil were sieved through a 2-mm sieve, and both fractions were weighed. Nutrients were determined on the <2 mm fraction. The samples from the ant mounds and organic layer and root samples were milled before analysis. For nutrient analyses, the root samples were combined by stand age class. Element concentrations (g g⁻¹) were determined with standard methods used at the Finnish Forest Research Institute. The C and nutrient pools in the ant mounds were calculated by multiplying the average C and nutrient concentrations of the sampled ant mounds (the elements of roots were included) in each stand by the ant mound mass (g ha⁻¹). The element concentrations of roots (g g^{-1}) were multiplied by the root biomass (g per mound base area, m^2) in order to obtain the amount of elements in the roots per area (g m⁻²). Root biomass density was determined as

surrounding soil (Table 1). Linear mixed models and Bonferroni multiple comparisons were used to test for differences in element concentrations, C/nitrogen (N) ratios and bulk density of mound and soil between the fixed factors, stand age classes and sample loci, and their interaction. Forest stand was used as a random factor. Among the sample loci, 1) ant mounds *vs.* soil organic layer, and 2) soil under ant mound *vs.* mineral soil, were tested separately. The same analysis was performed for the element pools m⁻². Root biomass and biomass density were tested in a similar way except that site * sampling location was also used as a random factor. The element concentrations and amounts in roots were compared between sample location with linear mixed models, where sampling location and root diameter class were fixed factors. The results were presented separately for fine roots and coarse roots. One-way ANOVA and Bonferroni multiple comparisons were applied to compare the element pools ha⁻¹ of ant mounds between stand age classes.

a percentage of the mound material or soil. Roots were separated from 25 mounds and their

Norway spruce growth (V)

Five medium-sized wood ant mounds were selected in each stand age class (Table 1). Ten of the most heavily-visited (by ants) and ten similar-sized non-visited spruces were selected within 20 m from each of the 20 ant mounds, to give a total of 100 trees in each stand age class. The access of ants to half of the heavily-visited and non-visited trees was blocked. Ant traffic was monitored regularly during 2004–2006. In the 5-year-old stands the number of ants currently present on the seedlings was counted. In the 30-, 60- and 100-year-old stands the number of ants passing breast height during the monitoring period of five minutes was recorded. The experimental trees without blocking were classified into two "Traffic" classes: half of the trees were classified as heavily-visited and half as lightly-visited. During the study, part of the initially non-visited trees changed to heavily-visited and part of the heavily-visited into the variable "Tree group" (see Table 3 in V). The heights and breast height diameters of the experimental trees were measured in the beginning and at the end of the study. In the 30-, 60- and 100-year-old stands, the radial growth prior to and during the study were determined on increment cores taken at breast height on the trees.

To assess the effect of ant-aphid mutualism on height (5-year-old stands) and radial growth (30-, 60-, and 100-year-old stands) of experimental trees during the experiment, general linear models in which "Tree group" was a fixed factor and stand a random factor were used. In the 5-year-old stands, the seedling height in the beginning of the study was used as a covariate. The mean annual radial growth during ten years before the experiment was used as a covariate in the 30-, 60- and 100-year-old stands. To test the effect of blocking of ant traffic on tree growth, the trees visited heavily before and during the experiment were contrasted with the trees where the heavy ant traffic before the experiment was blocked during the experiment ("Block contrast"). To test whether the ant traffic prior to the experiment was still related to growth, the trees with light traffic before were contrasted with the trees with heavy traffic during the experiment ("Visit contrast"). To test the relationship between ant traffic during the experiment and growth, the trees with heavy ant traffic before and during the experiment were contrasted with the trees with light ant traffic before and during the experiment ("Traffic contrast"). The differences (%) in annual height (5-year-old stands) and radial growth (older stands) between the heavily-visited spruces and the spruces where the ant traffic was blocked were calculated.

Stand volume growth was estimated in each stand using data collected from systematically located tree sample plots in autumn 2003 and 2006. There was a total of 23 and 48 sample plots in the 5-year-old and older stands, respectively. In the 5-year-old stands, the heights of the spruce seedlings (height > 20 cm) were measured (Table 1). In the older stands, the breast height diameters ($d_{1,3}$) of the spruces ($d_{1,3} > 4$ cm) were measured (Table 1) and a part of the trees were taken as sample trees that were measured also for height and diameter at 6 m height (d_6) and cored for increment samples in autumn 2006. The KPL program was used to calculate tree stand characteristics (Heinonen 1994). The numbers of ants currently on the measured seedlings and on 0.5 m trunk parts at breast height on the older measured trees were counted several times during 2003–2006. The distances between tree sample plots and the nearest ant mounds were determined.

To estimate the proportion of heavily-visited spruces in each stand the number of ants on the trees within 20 m distance from one of the five selected ant mounds in each stand age class was counted. These data, together with the data from the tree sample plots, were used to fit regression models in which the proportion of heavily ant-visited spruces on a sample plot was explained by the distance from the nearest active ant mound. Stand-specific proportions of heavily-visited trees were calculated with the models in which surfaces indicating distances from the nearest active ant mounds created for each stand with ArcGIS 9.0 were used as explanatory variables.

The impact of ant-aphid mutualism on the annual stand volume growth was estimated. First, stand volume was calculated with ants present and without ants. Then, the change in stand volume (volume without ants – volume with ants present) was compared to the annual stand volume growth without ants. Laasasenaho's (1982) volume model for Norway spruce was used to calculate the volume of a spruce tree with a mean diameter weighted by the stem basal area in each stand. The stand volume with ants present was calculated by multiplying the average tree volume with the number of spruce trees per hectare. The stand volume without ants was calculated by increasing the diameter of the heavily-visited trees with the estimated ant-aphid effect. In the 5-year-old stands the impact of ant-aphid mutualism on height growth was calculated in a similar way.

3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 Distribution of ant mounds in boreal forests (I)

The mean mound density across the entire country in the 1950s was 2.5 mounds ha⁻¹, and 3.1, 2.4 and 1.5 mounds ha⁻¹ in the hemi- and south-boreal, middle-boreal and north-boreal zones, respectively. The results were consistent with those of previous studies using subsets of the NFI3 data (Wuorenrinne 1974; Rosengren et al. 1979). The mound densities in Eurasian boreal forests are one magnitude higher than those in central European lowlands (see overview in Risch et al. 2005) and in North America (see overview in Risch et al. 2008). Here latitude contributed the most to the explained variation in the ant mound density. The decreasing density towards the north could be due to the lower fertility and productivity (Tamminen 1991), colder climate and shorter growth season, higher altitude, increased proportion of pinedominated stands and other changes in forest stand structure (e.g. age class distribution), as well as to the turnover of ant species towards the north. The occurrence and density of ant mounds were highest on the medium-fertile sites and lowest on very infertile and rocky sites. Fertile sites most likely offered more diverse food resources, and a greater diversity of aphid species, and therefore could maintain a higher mound density than less fertile sites (Rosengren et al. 1979). Mound density was high also on fine sandy soils, which have good aeration and water holding capacity (Westman 1991) and thus promote plant production. Fine sandy soils can also have favourable temperature and overwintering conditions for ants.

In contrast to pine-dominated forests, birch- and spruce-dominated forests had a high occurrence of ant mounds. This was related to site type because birch and spruce dominated the most fertile and pine the least fertile sites. The high occurrence and density of ant mounds in spruce-dominated stands could be attributable to the presence of polygyne species of the *F. rufa* group, which are able to colonize and survive in these shady stands (Rosengren and Pamilo 1983; Punttila 1996). Moreover, a mixture of other tree species in spruce-dominated stands could offer diverse, continuous food resources throughout the whole foraging period of ants (Müller 1960; Rosengren and Sundström 1987; Laine and Niemelä 1989; Mahdi and Whittaker 1993).

Mound occurrence was generally lower in the youngest development classes than in the older classes. In addition to changes in illumination, clear-cutting removes the main resource, *i.e.* aphid trees, changes the ecological conditions and provides new habitats for open-country species (see Rosengren and Pamilo 1978; Vepsäläinen and Wuorenrinne 1978; Rosengren *et al.* 1979; Punttila *et al.* 1991; 1996; Punttila 1996; Sorvari and Hakkarainen 2004; 2005; 2007). On the other hand, mound density does not directly indicate the welfare of mound-building ants because forest thinning that leads to better illumination may promote ant colony founding (Rosengren *et al.* 1987; Punttila 1996), and logging often leads to colony budding in polygyne wood ant species (Rosengren *et al.* 1979; Sorvari and Hakkarainen 2005).

Forest management and structure have changed dramatically since the 1950s and this has most probably affected the ant mound density and species composition. Despite prohibited in the 1940s (Mikola 1984), selectively logged stands were still found in the NFI3. Currently, for instance, soil preparation might reinforce the devastating effects of clear-cutting through physical damage to the mounds, whereas thinning that increases light may increase the mound numbers. The reduced stand size of managed forests and the accretion of edge habitats (Löfman and Kouki 2001; 2003) may increase the mound density by providing favourable conditions for colony establishment (Klimetzek 1973; Punttila 1996). The increased proportion of young stands (Peltola 2006), and the isolation and smaller size of mature stands, may have favoured

monogyne or weakly polygyne nesting strategies at the expense of obligately polygyne ones (*sensu* Sundström *et al.* 2005), and increased the mound density of open-country species (Punttila 1996).

3.2 Distribution of ant species and mounds in Norway spruce stands (II)

In the studied spruce-dominated stands, the overall density of active and abandoned mounds was 3.8 and 0.7 per ha, respectively (Table 1). This is in good agreement with the earlier findings that ant mound density is higher than the average on spruce-dominated mediumfertile stands in Finland (I). In total, 16% of all the 452 mounds were abandoned, while most active mounds were inhabited by F. aquilonia (94%). Together with the other species of the F. rufa group (F. rufa, F. polyctena and F. lugubris), wood ants inhabited 97% of all the active mounds. The rest of the mounds were inhabited by F. exsecta and F. pressilabris. In these data, polydomous F. aquilonia dominated in all stand age classes, but the number of its mounds in the 60- and 100-year-old stands was twice that in the 5- and 30-year-old stands. The other mound-building species were concentrated in the younger age classes. Thus the species turnover along the stand age gradient was clear, but less evident than expected on the basis of earlier studies (Punttila 1996). These results suggest that, if polydomous colonies survive the decline in food resources after clear-cutting, they can to a large extent prevent other territorial ant species from colonizing the area (cf. Vepsäläinen and Pisarski 1982; Punttila 1996; Punttila et al. 1996). This is particularly evident in small and narrow clear-cut areas, where a polydomous ant colony may easily move its population in or close to the edge of more favourable older forest habitats through nest budding (Sorvari and Hakkarainen 2005).

In this study, both the mean mound volume and the mound volume per area increased from 0.3 m^3 and $0.4 \text{ m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1}$ in the 5-year-old stands to 1 m^3 and $4 \text{ m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1}$ in the 100-year-old stands. Thus, the ant worker population, as indicated approximately by the mound size (Seifert 1991; Martikainen *et al.* 2000; Liautard *et al.* 2003), increased along the stand age gradient. The variation in the volume of active mounds was lowest in the 30-year stand age class, where the old withering mounds have already been abandoned, and was highest in the 100-year stand age class, where bud nests were formed around large mounds.

In this study, mound height relative to its diameter increased with stand age and thus with degree of shadiness. This agrees with the observation that, in shaded conditions, higher ant mounds are better able to collect diffused light than flatter mounds (Andrews 1927; Lange 1959; Martin 1975; Sudd *et al.* 1977; Bretz 2004). On the other hand, the presence of flat mounds in the seedling stands could be partly attributable to mound compaction (Domisch *et al.* 2005; III). The longest slopes of the mounds faced south, as has been reported in Ireland (Breen 1979). This suggests that exposure to the sun is important in ant colony founding and survival. The finding that mounds were slightly smaller (*i.e.* younger) in well-lit locations and near stand edges in the oldest stands agrees with the suggestion by Punttila (1996), that polydomous colonies are able to spread through step-by-step dispersal utilizing canopy openings. Eventually, an ant population large enough to thermoregulate the mound can also survive in shaded conditions after tree-canopy closure (Rosengren *et al.* 1987; Punttila 1996). Polydomous colonies that exchange resources among mounds may survive better in shaded conditions than monodomous ones (Rosengren and Pamilo 1983; Punttila 1996).

In all stand age classes, *F. aquilonia* mounds were concentrated at the stand edges, and in permanently open locations by road sides and shores. Nearly half of the mounds were concentrated within 10 m from the stand edges, while this zone represented only one quarter of the stand area. The aggregation of ant mounds in edge habitats is common, as found *e.g.*

in planted forests in England (Sudd *et al.* 1977). The spatial distribution of ant mounds was significantly clustered only in some stands, and was most probably caused by the polydomous colonies of *F. aquilonia* and the concentration of ant mounds in edge habitats. A clustered nest spacing is common in polydomous ant species (*e.g.* Cerdá *et al.* 2002). In seedling stands, where light is more uniformly distributed and more ant species are specialized for different habitats (Punttila *et al.* 1991; Punttila *et al.* 1996), the spatial distribution might be more regular. Ants can minimize intra-specific competition by regular nest spacing, especially when the nest density is high (Cushman *et al.* 1988 and references therein). In the older sites the mound density was relatively high, which might partly explain why the distributions were not as clustered as expected. On a broader scale, ant mounds are apparently aggregated in these old-forest fragments (*cf.* I).

In addition to inter- and intra-specific interaction, abiotic factors also affect the spatial distribution of ant mounds. For example, topography may gain importance at a larger scale, whereas species interactions are more likely to play a role at a smaller scale (Crist and Wiens 1996 and references therein). Hence, in addition to the factors studied here (stand age, proximity to edge, illumination), several other factors such as altitude, slope steepness and the main slope direction of the terrain may influence mound locations at the forest stand scale. These variables had narrow ranges in the data and thus, had only minor impacts on mound distribution. Other studies, however, have shown that ant mounds are concentrated on south-exposing slopes (*e.g.* Laine and Niemelä 1989), and on the sunny sides of forest trails (Douglas and Sudd 1978).

3.3 Carbon and nutrient concentrations and pools of wood ant mounds (III)

The C, N and phosphorus (P) concentrations and C/N ratio in the above-ground parts of the ant mounds were comparable to those reported in temperate, boreal and subalpine coniferous forests (Zakharov et al. 1981; Lenoir et al. 2001; Risch et al. 2005). Both the C and P concentrations were higher in the above-ground ant mound material than in the surrounding organic layer. The ant mound material is selectively collected from the forest floor by ants. Norway spruce needle litter, which is a common mound-building material, usually has lower N and P concentrations (Berg et al. 1991; Johansson 1995; Lundmark-Thelin and Johansson 1997; Berg et al. 2000) than the ant mound material (Zakharov et al. 1981; Lenoir et al. 2001; Frouz et al. 2005; Risch et al. 2005; III), and therefore the presence of other ant mound material explains the higher nutrient concentrations. Ant mounds contain relatively more resin particles (Lenoir et al. 1999) and food remains than the surrounding organic layer. The soil microbe (Frouz et al. 1997; Laakso and Setälä 1998) and root composition (Farji-Brener 2000; IV) of ant mounds also differ from those in the surrounding soil, and they may have an impact on the C and nutrient concentrations. Ant mounds can have a higher N-fixing bacterium assemblage compared to the surrounding organic layer (Frouz et al. 1997), but this was probably not the case here because the N concentrations were similar in the ant mounds and in the surrounding organic layer. Laakso and Setälä (1998) found a larger soil animal biomass, suggesting a higher amount of resources, in ant mounds than in the surrounding forest soil in Finland, but no differences in the N and P concentrations between the surface layers of ant mounds and the surrounding litter layer. Ants themselves have also been reported to increase the leaching of dissolved organic C and N from litter (Stadler et al. 2006). Furthermore, the organic layer comprises the whole decomposition continuum from litter to humus, while the material in the ant mounds is less decomposed and, according to the higher C/N ratio (Berg and McClaugherty 2003), younger in the ant mounds than in the organic layer. The higher C, N and extractable

P concentrations in the soil under the ant mounds compared to the surrounding mineral soil might be explained by the input of organic material caused by the mixing activity of the ants. Here nutrient concentrations in the organic layer did not decrease with stand age, which was opposite to the earlier findings in boreal forests in southern Finland (Tamminen 1991). At the same time, the C concentrations in the ant mounds increased slightly with stand age.

The bulk densities in the above- and below-ground parts of the ant mounds were lower than in the surrounding soil. The interior of the mounds of the *Formica rufa* group is known to have a porous structure with ant tunnels and chambers, and the mineral soil under the mounds is also mixed with organic matter by the ants, resulting in a lower bulk density. There were no significant stand-age related differences in the bulk densities of the ant mounds, although the bulk density seemed to be highest in the seedling stands. This might indicate reduced ant activity in the recently clear-cut sites, which leads to accelerated decomposition (*cf.* flat mounds in seedling stands, II).

Carbon and nutrients accumulated in the ant mounds with stand age. The C, N and P pools in the above-ground mounds of the 100-year-old stands were 180, 4 and 0.3 kg ha⁻¹, respectively. The contribution of ant mounds to the total C, N and P pools in the forest soil was thus under 1%, which is less than that in sub-alpine forests in Switzerland, where it was 0.6–5% of the C and N pools in the organic layer depending on the forest type (Risch *et al.* 2005). The pools in ant mounds are negligible when extrapolated to the ecosystem level. However, ant mounds increase the spatial heterogeneity in the distribution of C, N and P in forest soil. Further, the aggregation of ant mounds located near the stand edges accumulate resources both from inside the stand and from the surrounding habitats, and become sources of nutrients after abandonment. Nutrients become first available to plants that have roots in and under the mounds (IV).

3.4 Root distribution in wood ant mounds (IV)

Fine and coarse roots accounted for < 1% of the dry mass of the mound material, and around 3% of the dry mass of the organic layer of the surrounding forest soil. The total root biomass (fine and coarse roots together) in the above- and below-ground parts of the mounds and the surrounding organic and mineral soil layers was 905±198 g m⁻² (mean ± SE) and 658±68 $g m^2$, respectively. The root biomass obtained here was comparable with that reported in other studies in boreal forests (Steele et al. 1997; Vanninen and Mäkelä 1999; Makkonen and Helmisaari 2001). With a mound density of 4.5 ha^{-1} and an average basal area of 1.4 m^2 , the total root biomass in ant mounds was 6 kg ha⁻¹ compared to a biomass of 6600 kg ha⁻¹ in soil, which indicates that the contribution of mound roots to the total root biomass is only 0.1%. Given that wood ant mounds contain more nutrients than the surrounding soil (e.g. Pokarzhevskij 1981; Lenoir et al. 2001; Frouz et al. 2005; Risch et al. 2005; III), it was expected that the better nutrient conditions, together with the higher aeration and temperature (Rosengren et al. 1987), would result in better root growth in wood ant mounds. In contrast, the root biomass density (%) was lower in the above-ground mounds than in the organic layer. The relative dryness of wood ant mounds (Laakso and Setälä 1997; Frouz 2000; Lenoir et al. 2001) most probably limits root growth. Another possible explanation is that the formic acid produced by wood ants might also inhibit root growth (cf. Frederickson et al. 2005). Fine root biomass (g m^{-2}) and biomass density (%) were higher in the soil below the mound than in the surrounding mineral soil. Coarse root biomass under the mounds was also higher than in the mineral soil in the 5- and 30-year-old stands. These results are in agreement with those

of Karhu and Neuvonen (1998), who found more roots in the mineral soil close to wood ant mounds than further from the mounds. This suggests that root nutrient uptake in the soil below the mounds can also be important. In abandoned ant mounds, however, the uptake may be even higher. Kristiansen and Amelung (2001) reported that abandoned wood ant mounds had a higher root density than the surrounding soil. The increased moisture content in abandoned mounds can accelerate organic matter decomposition and nutrient mineralization, thereby enhancing the growth and nutrient uptake of roots in abandoned ant mounds. The density of abandoned mounds was here 0.7 ha⁻¹, suggesting only a small addition to the effects of active mounds on root distribution. On the other hand, the effect of ant mounds lasts even for several decades in each location (Hölldobler and Wilson 1990).

The N, calcium (Ca), potassium (K), P, sulphur (S), magnesium (Mg), zinc (Zn) and copper (Cu) concentrations were higher in the fine and coarse roots in the above-ground mounds than in the organic layer, and the lead (Pb) concentration was lower in the fine roots than in the surrounding organic layer. The amounts of K and P were higher in the fine and coarse roots in the mounds than in the organic layer. The roots in the mounds accounted for nearly 0.2% of the N, Ca, K, P, S and Mg pools in the total roots at the stand level. Karhu and Neuvonen (1998) also reported higher foliar N concentrations in trees growing in wood ant mounds compared to those growing far from mounds. Current results suggest that nutrients from the organic matter aggregated in mounds over a large area could be utilized by the surrounding trees via roots. Thus ant mounds increase spatial variation in root distribution at the stand level.

Stand age was not found to have an effect on root biomass and density in this study, except that the fine root biomass density in the soil below ant mounds and in the surrounding mineral soil was higher in the 60- than in the 5-year-old stands. Earlier studies have shown that root biomass in the soil decreases immediately after clear-cutting, and then gradually increases to the pre-cutting levels (Palviainen *et al.* 2005). The same might be true for the roots in ant mounds.

3.5 Effect of ant-aphid mutualism on Norway spruce growth (V)

In this study the main results on the effects of ant-aphid mutualism on tree growth were based on an manipulative experiment ("Block contrast") and they therefore provide more convincing evidence of the causality between ant-aphid mutualism and tree growth than correlative studies (here "Visit and Traffic contrasts") (see Styrsky and Eubanks 2007). Contrary to expectations, ant-aphid mutualism increased the height growth of individual spruce seedlings by 16% during the three-year experiment (p = 0.100). In earlier studies the ant-aphid mutualism or aphids alone have had mainly a negative relationship with the growth of conifer seedlings (Fox and Griffith 1977; Holopainen and Soikkeli 1984; Holopainen et al. 1993; Straw et al. 1998; 2000; Smith and Schowalter 2001; Straw et al. 2002), as well as with the growth of deciduous tree seedlings (Dixon 1971; Banks et al. 1991). The increased height growth of seedlings may result merely from the fact that aphids select the fastest-growing trees (Fox and Griffith 1977). Changed allocation patterns in stem vs. root growth, or overcompensation in growth, may also explain the observed pattern (e.g. Agrawal 1998; Vanderklein and Reich 1999; Stowe et al. 2000; Offenberg et al. 2005). Overcompensation, meaning that lightly-defoliated plants grow more than intact plants, is possible in spruce seedlings with partly free growth but not in older spruces with predetermined growth (Kramer and Kozlowski 1979; Grossnickle 2000). Here the ants and aphids may have induced the overcompensation because spruces do not have many significant defoliating insects. At the stand level, however, the increase in the height growth of the seedlings was small: 1.2% or about 0.2 cm.

In the 30-year-old stands, the radial growth of heavily-visited spruces was 7% lower than that of the spruces where the ant traffic was blocked. At the stand level, this resulted in 0.05%annual volume growth losses, corresponding to 0.008 m³ ha⁻¹. The impact on stand growth was negligible, because only 1-7% of the trees were heavily-visited (Table 1). In the older stands the differences in similar comparisons were not significant. However, in the 60-yearold stands the spruces that were heavily-visited prior to the experiment grew 6% less than the ones visited lightly prior to the experiment. This may indicate that the ant-aphid mutualism has long-term effects on the growth of mature spruces, as has been reported also for aphidinfested Sitka spruce (Halldórsson et al. 2003). A similar negative relationship between antaphid mutualism and the growth of mature Scots pines (Klimetzek and Wellenstein 1978; Wellenstein 1980; Rosengren and Sundström 1991) and Norway spruces (Frouz et al. 2008) has also been reported earlier. In this study the reduction in radial growth of the 30-year-old spruces was only 7%, while it was 20% in 50-year-old Scots pines in a correlative study by Rosengren and Sundström (1991). Several reasons can account for the difference. Only part of the annual tree biomass production is allocated to the stem, and the proportion is higher in pine than in spruce (Finér 1989). Trees allocate a significant amount of their annual production into fine roots (Helmisaari et al. 2002). The assimilates can be reallocated and the growth effects in stems might be observable later than in roots and, accordingly, the growth reductions become long-lasting (Smith and Schowalter 2001). Furthermore, the study of Rosengren and Sundström was carried out in southern Finland where the active season of ants and aphids is longer than that in eastern Finland. More honeydew may be collected from Scots pine than from Norway spruce (Zoebelein 1956). In addition, the past growth of the trees, which was found to be a significant covariate, was not taken into account in their study.

The growth responses due to the blocking of ant traffic were not significant in the 60- and 100-year-old trees possibly because they grew so slowly that it was difficult to detect the effect during the three-year study period. On the other hand, the host trees of ant aphid mutualism can change remarkably from year to year (Vepsäläinen and Savolainen 1994), although the heavily-visited trees usually remain the same during consecutive years (Rosengren 1977). If host trees change and if ant-aphid mutualism has long-term effects (more than a growing season) on tree growth (Smith and Schowalter 2001; Halldórsson *et al.* 2003; V), then the effect of mutualism can be higher than predicted because the growth of current host trees is compared to possible former host trees that might still have reduced growth rates.

3.6 Implications of wood ants for the prerequisites of tree growth

The C and nutrient concentrations and pools, and the biomass, density and element concentrations of roots in wood ant mounds, and the net effect of wood ant-aphid mutualism on tree growth, were examined in this study. Although C and nutrient pools in wood ant mounds are relatively modest at the stand scale (Risch *et al.* 2005, III), a considerable proportion of elements may be cycled through wood ant mounds in forest ecosystems (Frouz *et al.* 1997). However, the element fluxes through mounds or different processes related to ant-aphid-tree interactions were not studied here (*cf.* Figure 1). The achieved results, however, enable me to make an approximate generalization of the ecological impacts of wood ants (as listed in the Introduction), *viz.* the implications of wood ants for soil properties and tree growth in managed boreal forests. The overall ant mound density in the 1950s doubled from 1.5 mounds ha⁻¹ in the north-boreal zone to the 3.1 mounds ha⁻¹ in the north-boreal zone s (I). Thus the absolute ecological impacts of wood ants in the north-boreal zone s are about one half of those in the hemi- and south-boreal zones. The highest mound densities, and thus the

largest ecological impacts, can be found in medium-fertile sites (I) and stand edges (II). The ant worker force surrogated by mound density and size increased with stand age (I, II). Thus the impact of ants is larger in older than in younger stands. This was seen in the increase of element pools in ant mounds with stand age (III). In Finland, the ecological impacts are largest and spatially widest in the polygyne top competitor *F. aquilonia* (II, Punttila and Kilpeläinen 2008).

Wood ant activity may have both positive and negative direct and indirect effects on tree growth, and the effects can have different magnitudes near wood ant mounds and further away from them (Table 2). As illustrated in Figure 1 and supported by articles III and IV, trees may take up nutrients from ant mounds. The nutritive effect is most probably larger in older stands due to the larger nutrient pools in active ant mounds (III) (Table 2), although nutrient uptake may be larger from abandoned or almost abandoned ant mounds that are common in recently clear-cut stands especially (Kristiansen and Amelung 2001, IV). The aggregation of organic matter into mounds may theoretically have a slightly harmful effect on the trees that shed the organic matter, but this effect might be minimal (Table 2). However, the direct effect of sap sucking by aphids supported by ants apparently outweighs the nutritive effect of ant mounds (as shown in the case of active ant mounds in V) that most probably occurs only in the immediate vicinity of ant mounds (Karhu and Neuvonen 1998; Frouz et al. 2008) (Table 2). Based on the manipulative treatment, wood ant-aphid mutualism (the combined effect in Table 2) reduced the growth of Norway spruce trees significantly only in the 30year-old stands (V). The trees most often visited by ants are usually within 20 m from active ant mounds (Rosengren and Sundström 1991, V). If the trees affected by ants and aphids grow slower, then the trees further away from ant mounds may potentially obtain a slight competitive benefit, and thus wood ants may slightly reduce the difference in growth rates between more productive stand edge and the less productive stand interior (Table 2).

Table 2. Nutritive effects of active wood ant mounds and the effect of sap sucking by ant-tended aphids on Norway spruce growth near mounds, far from mounds and their combined effect at the stand level in different stand age classes (see V for growth details). Signs + and - indicate plausible positive and negative effects and the number of signs the magnitude of the effect.

Age	Nutritive	effect	Sap su	cking	Combined at		
(years)	Near	Far	Near	Far	the stand level		
5	+	0/-	++	0/-	(+)		
30	+	0/-		0/+	-		
60	++	0/-		0/+	0		
100	++	0/-		0/+	0		

4 CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH NEEDS

This thesis gives, for the first time, stand-level information about the role of wood ants in the distribution of carbon, nutrients and roots and about the effects of ant-aphid mutualism on tree growth in managed boreal forests. Generally it was found that mound-building ants prefer certain habitat attributes and, as a result, their distribution is not even across Finland or even across individual forest stands. At the same time, the absolute effects of wood ants as key species are higher in southern than in northern Finland, higher in older than in younger stands, and higher in stand edges than in stand interiors. Because the studied roles of the key species are most efficient in the near vicinity of ant mounds, it can be concluded on the basis of this study that ant mounds increase the spatial variation of carbon and nutrient concentrations and pools in the forest floor, root distribution and nutrient uptake, and tree growth in boreal forest ecosystems. Their contributions were, however, small at the stand level.

Forest management practices and forest stand structure have changed considerably since the time when the NFI3 was carried out in the 1950s. The latest NFI10 also includes an ant mound survey, with species identification and the recording of mound size and colony vitality. The new data will give more detailed information on the distribution of ant species and their abundance, as well as on habitat preferences in Finland. The results can also be compared with the NFI3 data. In regards to wood ants, the most prominent change since the 1950s has been the increase in forest fragmentation, with diminishing stand size and an increasing proportion of different kinds of edge habitats. Fragmentation can, to a certain extent, increase the density of wood ant mounds by providing new, well-lit areas for colonisation. This study suggested that the currently small clear-cut areas with e.g. retention trees are maybe not as detrimental as the earlier larger clear-cut areas. Another eye-catching change since the 1950s has been the drainage of mires, which has created new habitats for wood ants but has been detrimental for mire specialists. The NFI10 will also add knowledge about mire ants, which have so far attracted relatively little research. In addition to these issues, the edge habitats, the proportion of which is constantly increasing and where ecosystem functioning is faster and where wood ant mounds also aggregate additional resources, need more research.

More research is also needed on nutrient dynamics related to wood ants. Additional studies designed to quantify nutrient dynamics between mounds and surrounding trees in comparison to other nutrient fluxes, such as litterfall and throughfall including honeydew, are needed to determine the impact of wood ant mounds on nutrient cycling in more detail (see Figure 1). A longer growth monitoring period with stand level manipulations would be needed to more accurately evaluate the impact of ant-aphid mutualism on tree growth. Aphids should also receive more attention in studies on aphid-tending ants. Furthermore, nobody knows what a changing climate will bring with it!

REFERENCES

- Adlung, K.G. 1966. A critical evaluation of the European research on use of red wood ants (*Formica rufa* group) for the protection of forest against harmful insects. Journal of Applied Entomology 57, 167–189.
- Agrawal, A.A. 1998. Induced responses to herbivory and increased plant performance. Science 279, 1201–1202.
- Aho, T., Kuitunen, M., Suhonen, J., Jäntti, A. & Hakkari, T. 1999. Reproductive success of Eurasian treecreepers, *Certhia familiaris*, lower in territories with wood ants. Ecology 80, 998–1007.
- Ahti, T., Hämet-Ahti, L. & Jalas, J. 1968. Vegetation zones and their sections in northwestern Europe. Annales Botanici Fennici 5, 169–211.
- Andrews, E.A. 1927. Ant-mounds as to temperature and sunshine. Journal of Morphology and Physiology 44, 1–20.
- Atlegrim, O. 2005. Indirect effects of ant predation (Hymenoptera: Formicidae) on bilberry *Vaccinium myrtillus*. European Journal of Entomology 102, 175–180.
- Baddeley, A. & Turner, R. 2005. Spatstat: an R package for analyzing spatial point patterns. Journal of Statistical Software 12, 1–42.
- Banks, W.A., Adams, C.T. & Lofgren, C.S. 1991. Damage to young citrus trees by the red imported fire ant (Hymenoptera, Formicidae). Journal of Economic Entomology 84, 241–246.
- Baroni Urbani, C. & Collingwood, C.A. 1977. The zoogeography of ants. Acta Zoologica Fennica 152, 34 pp.
- Berg, B. & McClaugherty, C. 2003. Plant litter. Decomposition, humus formation, carbon sequestration. Springer Verlag, Berlin, 286 pp.
- —, Ekbohm, G., Soderstrom, B. & Staaf, H. 1991. Reduction of decomposition rates of Scots pine needle litter due to heavy-metal pollution. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 59, 165– 177.
- —, Johansson, M.-B. & Meentemeyer, V. 2000. Litter decomposition in a transect of Norway spruce forests: substrate quality and climate control. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 30, 1136–1147.
- Bolton, B. 2003. Synopsis and Classification of Formicidae. Memoirs of the American Entomological Institute Vol. 71, Gainesville, Florida, USA. 370 pp.
- Breen, J. 1979. Nest sites of *Formica lugubris* (Hymenoptera, Formicidae) in Irish plantation woods. Journal of Life Sciences, Royal Dublin Society 1, 13–32.
- Bretz, D. 2004. Der Einfluss der Wärmeeinstrahlung auf die Nestkuppelform von Waldameisen. Ameisenschutz aktuell 4/04, 103–112.
- Buckley, R. 1987. Ant-plant-Homopteran interactions. Advances in Ecological Research 16, 53–85.
- Cajander, A.K. 1949. Forest types and their significance. Acta Forestalia Fennica 56, 71 pp.
- Cerdá, X., Dahbi, A. & Retana, J. 2002. Spatial patterns, temporal variability, and the role of multi-nest colonies in a monogynous Spanish desert ant. Ecological Entomology 27, 7–15.
- Chevan, A. & Sutherland, M. 1991. Hierarchical partitioning. The American Statistician 45, 90–96.
- Coenen-Staß, D. 1980. Temperature distribution and calorimetric determination of heat production in the nest of the wood ant, *Formica polyctena* (Hymenoptera, Formicidae). Ecology 61, 238–244.

- Collingwood, C.A. 1979. The Formicidae (Hymenoptera) of Fennoscandia and Denmark. Fauna Entomologica Scandinavica 8, 174 pp.
- Crist, T.O. & Wiens, J.A. 1996. The distribution of ant colonies in a semiarid landscape: Implications for community and ecosystem processes. Oikos 76, 301–311.
- Cushman, J.H., Martinsen, G.D. & Mazeroll, A.I. 1988. Density- and size-dependent spacing of ant nests: evidence for intraspecific competition. Oecologia 77, 522–525.
- Czechowski, W. & Douwes, P. 1996. Morphometric characteristics of *Formica polyctena* Foerst. and *Formica rufa* L. (Hymenoptera, Formicidae) from the Gorce Mts; interspecific and intraspecific variations. Annales Zoologici, Warszawa 46, 125–141.
- & Radchenko, A. 2006. Formica lusatica Seifert 1997 (Hymenoptera: Formicidae), an ant species new to Finland, with notes on its biology and the description of males. Myrmecologische Nachrichten 8, 257–262.
- —,Radchenko, A. & Czechowska, W. 2002. The ants (Hymenoptera, Formicidae) of Poland. Museum and Institute of Zoology PAS (Polish Academy of Sciences), Warszawa. 200 pp. + appendix.
- Dighton, J. 1978. Effects of synthetic lime aphid honeydew on populations of soil organisms. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 10, 369–376.
- Dixon, A.F.G. 1971. The role of aphids in wood formation I. The effect of the sycamore aphid, *Drepanosiphum platanoides* (Schr.) (Aphididae), on the growth of sycamore, *Acer pseudoplatanus* (L.). Journal of Applied Ecology 8, 165–179.
- Dlussky, G.M. & Pisarski, B. 1971. Rewizja polskich gatunków mrówek (Hymenoptera: Formicidae) z rodzaju *Formica* L. Fragmenta Faunistica (Warsaw) 16, 145–224.
- Domisch, T., Finér, L. & Jurgensen, M.F. 2005. Red wood ant mound densities in managed boreal forests. Annales Zoologici Fennici 42, 277–282.
- Doncaster, C.P. 1981. The spatial distribution of ants' nests on Ramsey Island, South Wales. Journal of Animal Ecology 50, 195–218.
- Douglas, J.M. & Sudd, J.H. 1978. The distribution and behaviour of *Formica lugubris* Zetterstedt in a forest in northern England. Memorabilia Zoologica 29, 7–14.
- Douwes, P. 1981. Hur man känner igen de olika arterna av den vanliga stackmyran. Entomologisk Tidskrift 102, 80–82.
- 1995. Sveriges myror. Entomologisk Tidskrift 116, 83–99.
- Elgmork, K. & Kaasa, J. 1992. Food habits and foraging of the brown bear *Ursus arctos* in central south Norway. Ecography 15, 101–110.
- Farji-Brener, A.G. 2000. The importance of where to dump the refuse: seed banks and fine roots in nests of the leaf-cutting ants *Atta cephalotes* and *A. colombica*. Biotropica 32, 120–126.
- Finér, L. 1989. Biomass and nutrient cycle in fertilized and unfertilized pine, mixed birch and pine and spruce stand on a fertilized mire. Acta Forestalia Fennica 208, 63 pp.
- Folgarait, P.J. 1998. Ant biodiversity and its relationship to ecosystem functioning: a review. Biodiversity and Conservation 7, 1221–1244.
- Fox, R.C. & Griffith, K.H. 1977. Pine seedling growth loss caused by Cinaran aphids in South Carolina. Journal of the Georgia Entomological Society 12, 29–34.
- Frederickson, M.E., Greene, M.J. & Gordon, D.M. 2005. 'Devil's gardens' bedevilled by ants. Nature 437, 495–496.
- Frouz, J. 2000. The effect of nest moisture on daily temperature regime in the nests of *Formica polyctena* wood ants. Insectes Sociaux 47, 229–235.
- ---, Santruckova, H. & Kalcik, J. 1997. The effect of wood ants (*Formica polyctena* Foerst.) on the transformation of phosphorus in a spruce plantation. Pedobiologia 41, 437–447.

- —, Kalcik, J. & Cudlín, P. 2005. Accumulation of phosphorus in nests of red wood ants Formica s. str. Annales Zoologici Fennici 42, 269–275.
- —, Rybnícek, M., Cudlín, P. & Chmelíková, E. 2008. Influence of the wood ant, *Formica polyctena*, on soil nutrient and the spruce tree growth. Journal of Applied Entomology 132, 281–284.
- Goggin, F.L. 2007. Plant-aphid interactions: molecular and ecological perspectives. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 10, 399–408.
- Goropashnaya, A.V., Fedorov, V.B. & Pamilo, P. 2004a. Recent speciation in the *Formica rufa* group ants (Hymenoptera, Formicidae): inference from mitochondrial DNA phylogeny. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 32, 198–206.
- —, Fedorov, V.B., Seifert, B. & Pamilo, P. 2004b. Limited phylogeographical structure across Eurasia in two red wood ant species *Formica pratensis* and *F. lugubris* (Hymenoptera, Formicidae). Molecular Ecology 13, 1849–1858.
- Grier, C.C. & Vogt, D.J. 1990. Effects of aphid honeydew on soil nitrogen availability and net primary production in an *Alnus rubra* plantation in Western Washington. Oikos 57, 114–118.
- Grossnickle, S.C. 2000. Ecophysiology of Northern Spruce Species: The Performance of Planted Seedlings. NRC Research Press, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada. 409 pp.
- Gößwald, K., Kneitz, G. & Schirmer, G. 1965. Die geographische Verbreitung der hügelbauenden *Formica*-Arten (Hym., Formicidae) in Europa. Zoologisches Jahrbuch für Systematik 92, 369–404.
- Haemig, P.D. 1992. Competition between ants and birds in a Swedish forest. Oikos 65, 479– 483.
- 1994. Effects of ants on the foraging of birds in spruce trees. Oecologia 97, 35-40.
- Halldórsson, G., Benedikz, T., Eggertsson, Ó., Oddsdóttir, E.S. & Óskarsson, H. 2003. The impact of the green spruce aphid *Elatobium abietinum* (Walker) on long-term growth of Sitka spruce in Iceland. Forest Ecology and Management 181, 281–287.
- Hawes, C., Steward, A.J. & Evans, H.F. 2002. The impact of wood ants (*Formica rufa*) on the distribution and abundance of ground beetles (Coleoptera: Carabidae) in Scots pine plantation. Oecologia 131, 612–619.
- Heikkinen, J. 2006. R-ohjelmisto ja sen spatiaaliset paketit, 2. päivä. [Internet site]. Available at: http://www.metla.fi/pp/JuHe/pub/handout.pdf. 34 pp. [Cited 3 Mar 2008].
- Heinonen, J. 1994. Koealojen puu- ja puustotunnusten laskentaohjelma KPL. Käyttöohje. Finnish Forest Research Institute, Research Papers 504, 80 pp.
- Helmisaari, H.-S., Makkonen, K., Kellomäki, S., Valtonen, E. & Mälkönen, E. 2002. Belowand above-ground biomass, production and nitrogen use in Scots pine stands in eastern Finland. Forest Ecology and Management 165, 317–326.
- Holopainen, J. & Soikkeli, S. 1984. Occurrence of *Cinara pini* (Homoptera, Lachnidae) in Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) seedlings with disturbed growth. Annales Entomologici Fennici 50, 108–110.
- —, Mustaniemi, A., Kainulainen, P., Satka, H. & Oksanen, J. 1993. Conifer aphids in an airpolluted environment. I. Aphid density, growth and accumulation of sulphur and nitrogen by Scots pine and Norway spruce seedlings. Environmental Pollution 80, 185–191.
- Hölldobler, B. & Wilson, E.O. 1990. The ants. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg. 732 pp.
- Ilvessalo, Y. 1951. III valtakunnan metsien arviointi. Suunnitelma ja maastotyön ohjeet. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen julkaisuja – Publications of the Forest Research Institute in Finland 39, 1–58.

- 1956. Suomen metsät vuosista 1921–24 vuosiin 1951–53. Kolmeen valtakunnan metsien inventointiin perustuva tutkimus. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen julkaisuja – Publications of the Forest Research Institute in Finland 47, 1–227.
- Johansson, M.-B. 1995. The chemical composition of needle and leaf litter from Scots pine, Norway spruce and white birch in Scandinavian forests. Forestry 68, 49–62.
- Jäntti, A., Suorsa, P., Hakkarainen, H., Sorvari, J., Huhta, E. & Kuitunen, M. 2007. Within territory abundance of red wood ants *Formica rufa* is associated with the body condition of nestlings in the Eurasian treecreeper *Certhia familiaris*. Journal of Avian Biology 38, 619–624.
- Kalela, A. 1960. Metsäkasvillisuusvyöhykkeet. In: Aario, L. (ed.) 1960. Suomen kartasto – Atlas of Finland: Chapter 10, Kasvisto ja kasvillisuusvyöhykkeet, map 17. Otava, Helsinki.
- Karhu, K.J. & Neuvonen, S. 1998. Wood ants and a geometrid defoliator of birch: predation outweighs beneficial effects through the host plant. Oecologia 113, 509–516.
- Klimetzek, D. 1970. Zur Bedeutung des Kleinstandorts für die Verbreitung hügelbauender Waldameisen der *Formica rufa*-Gruppe (*Hymenoptera: Formicidae*). Zeitschrift für Angewandte Entomologie 66, 84–95.
- 1973. Die Variabilität der Standortansprüche hügelbauender Waldameisen der Formica rufa-Gruppe (Hymenoptera: Formicidae). Mitteilungen des Badische Landesvereins für Naturkunde und Naturschutz 11, 9–25.
- 1981. Population studies on hill building wood-ants of the *Formica rufa*-Group. Oecologia 48, 418–421.
- & Wellenstein, G. 1978. Assimilateentzug und Zuwachsminderung an Forstpflanzen durch Baumläuse (Lachnidae) unter dem Einfluß von Waldameisen (Formicidae). Forstwissenschaftliches Centralblatt 97, 1–12.
- Kramer, P.J. & Kozlowski, T.T. 1979. Physiology of woody plants. Academic Press, New York, San Francisco, London. 811 pp.
- Kristiansen, S.M. & Amelung, W. 2001. Abandoned anthills of *Formica polyctena* and soil heterogeneity in a temperate deciduous forest: morphology and organic matter composition. European Journal of Soil Science 52, 355–363.
- Laakso, J. & Setälä, H. 1997. Nest mounds of red wood ants (*Formica aquilonia*): hot spots for litter-dwelling earthworms. Oecologia 111, 565–569.
- & Setälä, H. 1998. Composition and trophic structure of detrital foodweb in ant nest mounds of *Formica aquilonia* and in the surrounding forest soil. Oikos 81, 266–278.
- & Setälä, H. 2000. Impacts of wood ants (*Formica aquilonia* Yarr.) on the invertebrate food web of the boreal forest floor. Annales Zoologici Fennici 37, 93–100.
- Laasasenaho, J. 1982. Taper curve and volume functions for pine, spruce and birch. Communicationes Instituti Forestalis Fenniae 108, 74 pp.
- Laine, K.J. & Niemelä, P. 1989. Nests and nest sites of red wood ants (Hymenoptera, Formicidae) in subarctic Finland. Annales Entomologici Fennici 55, 81–87.
- Lange, R. 1959. Experimentelle Untersuchungen über den Nestbau der Waldameisen. Nesthügel und Volkstärke. Entomophaga 4, 47–55.
- Lenoir, L., Bengtsson, J. & Persson, T. 1999. Effects of coniferous resin on fungal biomass and mineralisation processes in wood ant nest materials. Biology and Fertility of Soils 30, 251–257.
- —, Persson, T. & Bengtsson, J. 2001. Wood ant nests as potential hot spots for carbon and nitrogen mineralization. Biology and Fertility of Soils 34, 235–240.

- Levings, S.C. & Traniello, J.F.A. 1981. Territoriality, nest dispersion, and community structure in ants. Psyche 88, 265–321.
- Liautard, C., Brown, W.D., Helms, K.R. & Keller, L. 2003. Temporal and spatial variations of gyne production in the ant *Formica exsecta*. Oecologia 136, 558–564.
- Longino, J.T., Coddington, J. & Colwell, R.K. 2002. The ant fauna of a tropical rainforest: estimating species richness three different ways. Ecology 83, 689–702.
- Lorber, B.E. 1982. Exemple de l'importance de l'humidite, la nature du sol et la végétation dans la distribution des fourmis du groupe *Formica rufa* (Hym. Formicidae). Insectes Sociaux 29, 195–208.
- Lundmark-Thelin, A. & Johansson, M.-B. 1997. Influence of mechanical site preparation on decomposition and nutrient dynamics of Norway spruce (Picea abies (L.) Karst.) needle litter and slash needles. Forest Ecology and Management 96, 101–110.
- Löfman, S. & Kouki, J. 2001. Fifty years of landscape transformation in managed forests of southern Finland. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 16, 44–53.
- & Kouki, J. 2003. Scale and dynamics of a transforming forest landscape. Forest Ecology and Management 175, 247–252.
- Mabelis, A.A. 1984. Interference between wood ants and other ant species (Hymenoptera, Formicidae). Netherlands Journal of Zoology 34, 1–20.
- & Korczynska, J. 2001. Dispersal for survival: some observations on the trunk ant (*Formica trunkorum* Fabricius). Netherlands Journal of Zoology 51, 299–321.
- Mac Nally, R. 1996. Hierarchical partitioning as an interpretative tool in multivariate inference. Australian Journal of Ecology 21, 224–228.
- Mahdi, T. & Whittaker, J.B. 1993. Do birch trees (*Betula pendula*) grow better if foraged by wood ants? Journal of Animal Ecology 62, 101–116.
- Makkonen, K. & Helmisaari, H.-S. 2001. Fine root biomass and production in Scots pine stands in relation to stand age. Tree Physiology 21, 93–198.
- Martikainen, P., Siitonen, J., Punttila, P., Kaila, L. & Rauh, J. 2000. Species richness of Coleoptera in mature managed and old-growth boreal forests in southern Finland. Biological Conservation 94, 199–209.
- Martin, A.-J. 1975. Laanekuklase (*Formica aquilonia* Yarrow) pesade kuju ja orienteeritus sõltuvalt asukoha tingimustest. Proceedings of the Academy of Sciences of Estonian SSR, Biology 1975(2), 109–115.
- Mikola, P. 1984. Harsintametsätalous. Silva Fennica 18, 293–301.
- Miles, P.W. 1999. Aphid saliva. Biological Reviews 74, 41–85.
- Mooney, K.A. 2007. Tritrophic effects of birds and ants on a canopy food web, tree growth, and phytochemistry. Ecology 88, 2005–2014.
- & Linhart, Y.B. 2006. Contrasting cascades: insectivorous birds increase pine but not parasitic mistletoe growth. Journal of Animal Ecology 75, 350–357.
- Müller, H. 1960. Der Honigtau als Nahrung der hügelbauenden Waldameisen. Entomophaga 5, 55–75.
- Ng, J.C.K. & Perry, K.L. 2004. Transmission of plant viruses by aphid vectors. Molecular Plant Pathology 5, 505–511.
- Offenberg, J., Nielsen, M.G., Macintosh, D.J., Havanon, S. & Aksornkoae, S. 2005. Lack of ant attendance may induce compensatory plant growth. Oikos 111, 170–178.
- Oinonen, E. 1956. Kallioiden muurahaisista ja niiden osuudesta kallioiden metsittymiseen Etelä-Suomessa. Acta Entomologica Fennica 12, 212 pp.

- Palviainen, M., Finér, L., Kurka, A.-M., Mannerkoski, H., Piirainen, S. & Starr, M. 2005. Changes in the above- and below-ground biomass and nutrient pools of ground vegetation after clear-cutting of a mixed boreal forest. Plant and Soil 275, 157–167.
- Peltola, A. (Ed.) 2006. Finnish Statistical Yearbook of Forestry. SVT Agriculture, forestry and fishery 2006, 435 pp.
- Petelle, M. 1984. Aphid honeydew sugars and soil nitrogen fixation. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 16, 203–206.
- Pokarzhevskij, A.D. 1981. The distribution and accumulation of nutrients in nests of ant Formica polyctena (Hymenoptera, Formicidae). Pedobiologia 21, 117–124.
- Punttila, P. 1996. Succession, forest fragmentation, and the distribution of wood ants. Oikos 75, 291–298.
- & Haila, Y. 1996. Colonisation of a burned forest by ants in southern Finnish boreal forest. Silva Fennica 30, 421–435.
- & Kilpeläinen, J. 2008. Distribution of mound-building ant species (*Formica* spp., Hymenoptera) in Finland: preliminary results of a national survey. Annales Zoologici Fennici. In print.
- —, Haila, Y., Pajunen, T. & Tukia, H. 1991. Colonisation of clearcut forests by ants in the southern Finnish taiga: a quantitative survey. Oikos 61, 250–262.
- —, Haila, Y., Niemelä, J. & Pajunen, T. 1994a. Ant communities in fragments of old-growth taiga and managed surroundings. Annales Zoologici Fennici 31, 131–144.
- —, Koponen, S. & Saaristo, M. 1994b. Colonisation of a burned mountain-birch forest by ants (*Hymenoptera, Formicidae*) in subarctic Finland. Memorabilia Zoologica 48, 193–206.
- —, Haila, Y. & Tukia, H. 1996. Ant communities in taiga clearcuts: habitat effects and species interactions. Ecography 19, 16–28.
- —, Niemelä, P. & Karhu, K. 2004. The impact of wood ants (Hymenoptera: Formicidae) on the structure of invertebrate community on mountain birch (*Betula pubescens* ssp. *czerepanovii*). Annales Zoologici Fennici 41, 429–446.
- Päivinen, J., Ahlroth, P. & Kaitala, V. 2002. Ant-associated beetles of Fennoscandia and Denmark. Entomologica Fennica 13, 20–40.
- Reynolds, B.C. & Hunter, M.D. 2001. Responses of soil respiration, soil nutrients, and litter decomposition to inputs from canopy herbivores. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 33, 1641– 1652.
- Reznikova, Z. 2003. Distribution patterns of ants in different natural zones and landscapes in Kazakhstan and West Siberia along a meridian trend. Euroasian Entomological Journal 2, 235–242.
- Risch, A.C., Jürgensen, M.F., Schütz, M. & Page-Dumroese, D.S. 2005. The contribution of red wood ants to soil C and N pools and to CO₂ emissions in subalpine forests. Ecology 86, 419–430.
- —, Jurgensen, M.F., Storer, A.J., Hyslop, M.D. & Schütz, M. 2008. Abundance and distribution of organic mound-building ants of the *Formica rufa* group in Yellowstone National Park. Journal of Applied Entomology 132, 326–336.
- Rosengren, R. 1977. Foraging strategy of wood ants (*Formica rufa* group) I. Age polyethism and topographic traditions. Acta Zoologica Fennica 149, 30 p.
- & Pamilo, P. 1978. Effect of winter timber felling on behaviour of foraging wood ants (*Formica rufa* group) in early spring. Memorabilia Zoologica 29, 143–155.
- & Pamilo, P. 1983. The evolution of polygyny and polydomy in mound-building *Formica* ants. Acta Entomologica Fennica 42, 65–77.

- & Sundström, L. 1987. The foraging system of a red wood ant colony (*Formica* s. str.)
 Collecting and defending food through an extended phenotype. In: Pasteels, J.M. & Deneubourg, J.L. (Eds.), From individual to collective behaviour on social insects. Experientia Supplementum 54, 117–137.
- & Sundström, L. 1991. The interaction between red wood ants, *Cinara* aphids and pines. A ghost of mutualism past? In: Huxley, C.R. & Cutler, D.F. (Eds.), Ant-plant interactions. Oxford University Press, Oxford, New York, Tokyo, pp. 80–91.
- —, Vepsäläinen, K. & Wuorenrinne, H. 1979. Distribution, nest densities, and ecological significance of wood ants (the *Formica rufa* group) in Finland. International Organization for the Biological Control of Noxious Animals and Plants. West Palaearctic Regional Section Bulletin, II-3, 183–213.
- —, Fortelius, W., Lindström, K. & Luther, A. 1987. Phenology and causation of nest heating and thermoregulation in red wood ants of the *Formica rufa* group studied in coniferous forest habitats in southern Finland. Annales Zoologici Fennici 24, 147–155.
- —, Sundström, L. & Fortelius, W. 1993. Monogyny and polygyny in Formica ants: the results of alternative dispersal tactics. In: Keller, L. (Ed.), Queen number and sociality in insects. Oxford University Press, Oxford. pp. 308–333.
- Savolainen, R. & Vepsäläinen, K. 1988. A competition hierarchy among boreal ants: impact on resource partitioning and community structure. Oikos 51, 135–155.
- & Vepsäläinen, K. 1989. Niche differentation of ant species within territories of the wood ant *Formica polyctena*. Oikos 56, 3–16.
- Seifert, B. 1991. The phenotypes of the Formica rufa complex in East Germany. Abhandlungen und Berichte des Naturkundemuseums Görlitz 65, 1–27.
- 2000. A taxonomic revision of the ant subgenus Coptoformica Mueller, 1923 (Hymenoptera: Formicidae). Zoosystema 22, 517–568.
- Seppä, P., Sundström, L. & Punttila, P. 1995. Facultative polygyny and habitat succession in boreal ants. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society 56, 533–551.
- Sipura, M. 2002. Contrasting effects of ants on the herbivory and growth of two willow species. Ecology 83, 2680–2690.
- Smith, J.P. & Schowalter, T.D. 2001. Aphid-induced reduction of shoot and root growth in Douglas-fir seedlings. Ecological Entomology 26, 411–416.
- Soil map of the world, Revised Legend. World Soil Resources Report 60. FAO, Unesco, Isric. Rome, 119 pp.
- Sorvari, J. & Hakkarainen, H. 2004. Habitat-related aggressive behaviour between neighbouring colonies of the polydomous wood ant *Formica aquilonia*. Animal behaviour 67, 151–153.
- & Hakkarainen, H. 2005. Deforestation reduces nest mound size and decreases the production of sexual offspring in the wood ant *Formica aquilonia*. Annales Zoologici Fennici 42, 259–267.
- & Hakkarainen, H. 2007. Wood ants are wood ants: deforestation causes population declines in the polydomous wood ant *Formica aquilonia*. Ecological Entomology 32, 707–711.
- Stadler, B. & Müller, T. 1996. Aphid honeydew and its effect on the phyllosphere microflora of *Picea abies* (L.) Karst. Oecologia 108, 771–776.
- & Dixon, A.F.G. 2005. Ecology and evolution of aphid-ant interactions. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution and Systematics 36, 345–372.
- —, Solinger, S. & Michalzik, B. 2001. Insect herbivores and the nutrient flow from the canopy to the soil in coniferous and deciduous forests. Oecologia 126, 104–113.

- —, Mühlenberg, E. & Michalzik, B. 2004. The ecology driving nutrient fluxes in forests. In: Weisser, W.W. & Siemann, E. (Eds.), Insects and ecosystem function. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, pp. 213–239.
- —, Schramm, A. & Kalbitz, K. 2006. Ant-mediated effects on spruce litter decomposition, solution chemistry, and microbial activity. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 38, 561–572.
- Steele, S.J., Gower, S.T., Vogel, J.G. & Norman, J.M. 1997. Root mass, net primary production and turnover in aspen, jack pine and black spruce forests in Saskatchewan and Manitoba, Canada. Tree Physiology 17, 577–587.
- Stowe, K.A., Marquis, R.J., Hochwender, C.G. & Simms, E.L. 2000. The evolutionary ecology of tolerance to consumer damage. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 31, 565–595.
- Stradling, D.J. 1978. Food and feeding habits of ants. In: Brian, M.V. (Ed.), Production ecology of ants and termites. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 81–106.
- 1987. Nutritional ecology of ants. In: Slansky, F. Jr. & Rodriguez, J.G. (Eds.), Nutritional ecology of insects, mites, spiders and related invertebrates. Wiley, New York, p. 927– 969.
- Straw, N.A., Fielding, N.J., Green, G. & Coggan, A. 1998. The impact of green spruce aphid, *Elatobium abietinum* (Walker), on the growth of young Sitka spruce in Hafren Forest, Wales: pattern of defoliation and effect on shoot growth. Forest Ecology and Management 104, 209–225.
- —, Fielding, N.J., Green, G. & Price, J. 2000. The impact of green spruce aphid, *Elatobium abietinum* (Walker), and root aphids on the growth of young Sitka spruce in Hafren Forest, Wales: effects on height, diameter and volume. Forest Ecology and Management 134.
- —, Fielding, N.J., Green, G. & Price, J. 2002. The impact of green spruce aphid, *Elatobium abietinum* (Walker), on the growth of young Sitka spruce in Hafren Forest, Wales: delayed effects on needle size limit wood production. Forest Ecology and Management 157, 267–283.
- Styrsky, J.D. & Eubanks, M.D. 2007. Ecological consequences of interactions between ants and honeydew-producing insects. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 274, 151–164.
- Sudd, J.H., Douglas, J.M., Gaynard, T., Murray, D.M. & Stockdale, J.M. 1977. The distribution of wood-ants (*Formica lugubris* Zetterstedt) in a northern English forest. Ecological Entomology 2, 301–313.
- Sundström, L., Seppä, P. & Pamilo, P. 2005. Genetic population structure and dispersal patterns in *Formica* ants a review. Annales Zoologici Fennici 42, 163–177.
- Swenson, J.E., Jansson, A., Riig, R. & Sandegren, F. 1999. Bears and ants: myrmecophagy by brown bears in central Scandinavia. Canadian Journal of Zoology 77, 551–561.
- Söderman, G. & Vikberg, V. 2002. Suomen myrkkypistiäisten luettelo ja levinneisyys (Hymenoptera, Apocrita, Aculeata). Sahlbergia 7, 41–66.
- Tamminen, P. 1991. Kangasmaan ravinnetunnusten ilmaiseminen ja viljavuuden alueellinen vaihtelu Etelä-Suomessa. Expression of soil nutrient status and regional variation in soil fertility of forested sites in southern Finland. Folia Forestalia 777, 1–40.
- Walsh, C. & Mac Nally, R. 2004. Hierarchical partitioning. [Internet site]. The R Project for Statistical Computing. Available at: http://cran.r-project.org/. [Cited 3 Mar 2008].
- Valtanen, J. 1996. Metsänhoidon muutokset puolen vuosisadan aikana. In: Piiroinen, M.-L. & Väärä, T. (Eds.), Metsäntutkimuspäivä Kajaanissa 1995. Finnish Forest Research Institute, Research Papers, pp. 117–127.

- Vanderklein, D.W. & Reich, P. 1999. The effect of defoliation intensity and history on photosynthesis, growth and carbon reserves on two conifers with contrasting leaf lifespans and growth habits. New Phytologist 144, 121–132.
- Vanninen, P. & Mäkelä, A. 1999. Fine root biomass of Scots pine stands differing in age and soil fertility in southern Finland. Tree Physiology 19, 823–830.
- Vepsäläinen, K. 2002. Ajan tasalla oleva muurahaisopas [a review of "Ants of Poland", in Finnish]. Luonnon Tutkija 106, 169–170.
- & Wuorenrinne, H. 1978. Ecological effects of urbanization on the mound-building Formica L. species. Memorabilia Zoologica 29, 191–202.
- & Pisarski, B. 1982. Assembly of island ant communities. Annales Zoologici Fennici 19, 327–335.
- & Savolainen, R. 1994. Ant-aphid interaction and territorial dynamics of wood ants. Memorabilia Zoologica 48, 251–259.
- Way, M.J. 1963. Mutualism between ants and honeydew-producing Homoptera. Annual Reviews in Entomology 8, 307–344.
- & Khoo, K.C. 1992. Role of ants in pest management. Annual Reviews in Entomology 37, 479–503.
- Wellenstein, G. 1980. Auswirkung hügelbauender Waldameisen der *Formica rufa*-Gruppe auf forstschädliche Raupen und das Wachstum der Waldbäume. Zeitschrift für Angewandte Entomologie 89, 144–157.
- Westman, C.J. 1991. Maaperä ja sen toiminta kasvualustana. University of Helsinki, Department of Silviculture. Research notes 67, 40 pp.
- Wuorenrinne, H. 1974. Suomen kekomuurahaisten (*Formica rufa* coll.) ekologiasta ja levinneisyydestä. Silva Fennica 8, 205–214.
- Zakharov, A.A., Ivanickaja, E.F. & Maksimova, A.E. 1981. Accumulation of nutrients in nests of *Formica* sp. (Hymenoptera, Formicidae) [In Russian with English abstract]. Pedobiologia 21, 36–45.
- Zoebelein, G. 1956. Der Honigtau als Nahrung der Insekten. Teil II. Zeitschrift für Angewandte Entomologie 39, 129–167.